
 
 

 
BRIEF OF APPELLEE 

 
                                                                                                                            

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT   

 
  

NO.  12-4627 
 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

           
         Appellee,    

v. 
        

NAARL JOSEPH RICHARD, 
a/k/a Noel H. Richard, a/k/a Richard Earl, 

a/k/a Richard Narrl, 
        
         Appellant.  

 
                                                                                              

APPEAL FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

CHARLESTON DIVISION        
 

                                                                              
       WILLIAM N. NETTLES 
       UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
 
       NATHAN S. WILLIAMS  

 Assistant United States Attorney  
       151 Meeting Street, Suite 200 
       Charleston, South Carolina 29402 
       ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

Appeal: 12-4627      Doc: 38            Filed: 12/03/2012      Pg: 1 of 36



 

i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
PAGE 

TABLE OF CONTENTS…………………………………………………………...i 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES……………………………………..……………….iii 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT………………………………………………..1 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES............................................................................... 1 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE .................................................................................. 1 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS ............................................................................... 2 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS ...................................................................... 6 

ARGUMENTS 
 
I. The district court properly determined that a traffic offense, witnessed by 

law enforcement officers, constituted a new and distinct crime, and was a 
sufficient intervening event so as to provide independent grounds for the 
vehicle’s legal stop and subsequent seizure of drug evidence………………7 

II. The district court properly classified Appellant as a career offender because 
Appellant’s criminal history included one prior conviction for a crime of 
violence, and two prior convictions for controlled substance offenses.....  19  

III. The district court properly exercised its discretion when it denied 
Appellant’s motion for a departure, and properly sentenced Appellant within 
the advisory guidelines range. ……………………………….…………….22 

  
CONCLUSION ........................................................................................................ 25 

STATEMENT WITH RESPECT TO ORAL ARGUMENT .................................. 26 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE ....................................................................... 27 

Appeal: 12-4627      Doc: 38            Filed: 12/03/2012      Pg: 2 of 36



 

ii 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE ................................................................................ 29 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appeal: 12-4627      Doc: 38            Filed: 12/03/2012      Pg: 3 of 36



 

iii 
 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 
 

CASES                   PAGE 

Cardwell v. Lewis, 417 U.S. 583 (1974) ................................................................. 13 

Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135 (2009) .............................................. 9, 16, 17 

Illinois v. Gates, 642 U.S. 213 (1983) ..................................................................... 15 

Maryland v. Dyson, 527 U.S. 465 (1999).   ............................................................. 15 

New York v. Class, 475 U.S. 106 (1986) .......................................................... 14, 16 

Samson v. California, 547 U.S. 843 (2006) ............................................................. 12 

Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735 (1979)  ................................................................ 13 

South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364 (1976) ................................................... 13 

Stone v. Powell, 428 U.S. 465 (1976) ..................................................................... 16 

Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295 (1999). ......................................................... 12 

United States v. Bailey, 691 F.2d 1009 (11th Cir.1982)  .................................... 9, 11 

United States v. Bayerle, 898 F.2d 28 (4th Cir 1990) .............................................. 23 

United States v. Buenrostro, 868 F.2d 135 (5th Cir.1989) ...................................... 23 

United States v. Burton, 698 F. Supp. 2d 1303 (N.D. Fla. 2010)  ........................... 18 

United States v. Chadwick, 433 U.S. 1 (1977)  ....................................................... 13 

United States v. Colon, 884 F.2d 1550 (2d Cir.1989) ............................................. 23 

Appeal: 12-4627      Doc: 38            Filed: 12/03/2012      Pg: 4 of 36



 

iv 
 

United States v. Coombs, No. CR08-1253-FRZ-CRPS, 2009 WL 3823730,  (D. 

Ariz. Nov. 12, 2009)  ............................................................................................... 18 

United States v. Davis, 131 S.Ct. 2419 (2011)  ................................................. 16, 17 

United States v. Denardi, 892 F.2d 269 (3d Cir.1989)  ........................................... 23 

United States v. Draper, 888 F.2d 1100 (6th Cir.1989)  .......................................... 23 

United States v. Fossett, 881 F.2d 976 (11th Cir.1989)  ......................................... 23 

United States v. Franz, 886 F.2d 973 (7th Cir.1989) ............................................... 23 

United States v. Green, 599 F.3d 360 (4th Cir. 2010) ............................................... 8 

United States v. Hall, 977 F.2d 861 (4th Cir., 1992) ................................................ 23 

United States v. Hampton, 628 F.3d 654 (4th Cir. 2010)  ......................................... 8 

United States v. Hassan El, 5 F.3d 726 (4th Cir. 1993) ........................................... 10 

United States v. Jesus-Nunez, No.1:10-CR-00017-01, 2010 WL 2991229, (M.D. 

Pa. July 27, 2010)  .................................................................................................... 18 

United States v. Jones, 132 S.Ct. 945 (2012) ........................................................ 2, 5 

United States v. Jones, 31 F.3d 1304 (4th Cir. 1994) ............................................... 19 

United States v. Knotts, 460 U.S. 276 (1983).......................................................... 18 

United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984). ........................................................... 16 

United States v. Marquez, 605 F.3d 604 (8th Cir. 2010)......................................... 12 

United States v. Michael, 645 F.2d 252 (5th Cir. 1981)  ......................................... 12 

Appeal: 12-4627      Doc: 38            Filed: 12/03/2012      Pg: 5 of 36



 

v 
 

United States v.Moran, 349 F. Supp. 2d 425 (N.D.N.Y. 2005)  ............................. 18 

United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798 (1982) ............................................................ 16 

United States v. Sparks, 750 F. Supp. 2d 384 (D. Mass. 2010)  ............................. 18 

United States v. Sprinkle, 106 F.3d 613 (4th Cir. 1997) ................................... 10, 11 

United States v. Tucker, 892 F.2d 8 (1st Cir.1989) ................................................. 23 

United States v. Walker, 771 F.Supp. 2d 803 (W.D. Mich. 2011) .......................... 18 

United States v. Williams, 650 F. Supp. 2d 633 (W.D. Ky. 2009)…….................18  

 
STATUTES 

18 U.S.C. § 851 ........................................................................................................ 22 

18 U.S.C. § 3742 ...................................................................................................... 23 

21 U.S.C. § 841 .................................................................................................... 2, 22 

28 U.S.C. § 1291 ........................................................................................................ 1 

New Jersey Code 2C:35-5  ...................................................................................... 21 

New Jersey Code 2C:35-7  ...................................................................................... 21 

New Jersey Code 2C:43-6  ...................................................................................... 21 

United States Sentencing Guidelines § 4A1.2  ............................................ 20, 21, 22 

United States Sentencing Guidelines § 4B1.1 ......................................................... 20 

United States Sentencing Guidelines § 4B1.2  ........................................................ 20 

 

Appeal: 12-4627      Doc: 38            Filed: 12/03/2012      Pg: 6 of 36



 

vi 
 

OTHER AUTHORITIES 
 
U.S. Const., Amend. IV ............................................................................................. 9 

 

Appeal: 12-4627      Doc: 38            Filed: 12/03/2012      Pg: 7 of 36



 

1 
 

JURISDICTION 

This is an appeal from a final judgment of conviction and sentence in a 

criminal case. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

Question I 

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT’S DETERMINATION THAT A 
TRAFFICE OFFENSE CONSTITUTED A NEW AND DISTINCT CRIME, 
THUS PURGING ANY TAINT FROM THE GOVERNMENT’S  ILLEGALUSE 
OF A GPS TRACKING DEVICE, WAS ERROR?  

Question II 

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CLASSIFIED AND 
SENTENCED APPELLANT AS A CAREER OFFENDER, BASED ON HIS 
CRIMINAL HISTORY AND PRIOR CONVICTIONS? 

Question III 

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT’S 
MOTION FOR A GUIDELINES VARIANCE? 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 On September 8, 2009, a Grand Jury returned a one-count Indictment 

charging Naarl Joseph Richard (“Appellant”) in the United States District Court for 

the District of South Carolina with knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully 

possessing with intent to distribute a quantity of Heroin, a Schedule I controlled 
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substance, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C). Joint Appendix 

(hereinafter “JA”) 3, 14.  

 Appellant exercised his right to a trial, which commenced on  October 3, 

2011.  He was convicted by a jury on October 5, 2011.  JA 9.  Appellant filed a 

notice of  appeal on November 7, 2011.  JA 265.  On January 27, 2012, prior to his 

sentencing hearing,  Appellant  filed a motion to reconsider his motion to suppress, 

and also, a motion for a new trial, based upon a very recent United States Supreme 

Court ruling in United States v. Jones, 132 S.Ct 945 (2012), issued on January 23, 

2012. The motion for a new trial was granted on April 12, 2012.  JA 266.  In 

addition to granting a new trial, the district court ordered that evidence of data 

generated from a Global Positioning Satellite (GPS) tracking device, which was 

admitted in the original trial, must be suppressed. JA 266. The case was retried on 

July 9, 2012, resulting in Appellant’s conviction on July 10, 2012. 

On August 9, 2012, Appellant was sentenced to two hundred and sixty-two 

months’ imprisonment.  JA 522.   

 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 
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 In May 2009, detectives from the North Charleston Police Department 

(NCPD) were investigating drug sales in the City of North Charleston, South 

Carolina.   JA 312-313.  This investigation included the surveillance of suspected 

“drug houses” and traffic stops of vehicles leaving the houses. JA 312-313.  Based 

upon information acquired  from individuals involved in the traffic stops, 

detectives learned that a white Pontiac Grand Prix was associated with sales of 

heroin.  JA 315-317.  Using this information, detectives located the Grand Prix, 

and  identified Appellant as a source of the heroin.  JA 318, 409-411.  Detectives 

then conducted surveillance of the car in the parking lot where it was located, and 

saw Appellant coming and going from the car. JA 320-321.  Based upon these 

observations, as well as information obtained from informants, detectives placed a 

GPS tracking device on the car, without first having sought court authorization.  JA 

159.  Detectives continued to observe Appellant and  the car, and on or about   

May 31, 2009, were alerted, based on data from the tracking device, that  the 

vehicle was traveling out of the area.  JA 324-325. At that point, detectives 

believed, based upon information that Appellant may be traveling to pick up heroin 

from a location in the New Jersey area.  JA 255-256.  In addition, the GPS tracking 

device indicated that Appellant was enroute to  New Jersey, then, after a brief 

interval, headed back towards South Carolina.  JA 165-167.  Based upon these 
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facts, detectives set up a traffic stop in an area where they expected Appellant to be 

headed.  JA 167-168.  Upon observing Appellant’s car, two detectives,  Bailey and 

Hughes, followed the car and saw it change lanes without using a turn signal, 

which constituted a traffic violation.  JA 411-413, 432.    

 Having witnessed this traffic violation, detectives Hughes and Bailey 

stopped the vehicle. Appellant was in the passenger’s seat, with a woman, 

identified as Katia Coney, driving.  JA 127-128.  Detective Hughes spoke to the 

driver while detective Bailey spoke to the passenger, Appellant Richard. JA 414, 

433.  Detectives Hughes and Bailey noted that there were inconsistencies in 

Richard’s and Coney’s accounts of where they had been.  Additionally, Appellant 

appeared nervous and  refused to give his name. JA 415-418, 434-439. Both 

individuals were asked to step out of the car.  Coney, the driver, gave consent to 

search the vehicle. JA 418-419, 439.  A canine drug unit that was on the scene 

conducted a “free air” sniff of the car, and alerted for the presence of drugs. JA 

418. 

Based on Coney’s consent and the drug dog’s alert for the presence of drugs,  

Detectives Hughes and Bailey conducted a cursory search of the car.  No illegal 

substances were found. JA 419, 439-440.  Two other detectives, Roy and Pritchard, 

who were also present, searched the car after detectives Hughes and Bailey.  
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During this search,  detective Roy noticed a metal rod under the center console.  JA 

330.  Detective Pritchard identified this rod as a hydraulic pump, and in tracing its 

wiring, found what he believed were five glassine bags of heroin.  JA 330 – 333.  

At this point, a search warrant for the car was obtained.  JA 333.  Pursuant to the 

warrant, a complete search of the car was conducted, and a secret compartment, 

operated by a hydraulic piston, was found under the center console of the car.   JA 

335-338.  Inside this compartment were found 1,000 glassine bags of heroin, 

plastic bags, a passport in Appellant’s name, and a rubber stamp.  JA 354-346.  

The drugs were tested by the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, and 

found to be a total of approximately 36.2 grams of heroin.  JA 461.  

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion to suppress the heroin. His motion 

was denied.  JA 7.  During Appellant’s trial in October 2011, there was testimony 

referring to the tracking device and evidence introduced of location data generated 

by the GPS.  JA 478.  Appellant was convicted on October 5, 2011.  JA 9.   

Prior to Richard’s sentencing, the United States Supreme Court issued its 

opinion in United States v. Jones, 132 S.Ct. 945 (2012), in which evidence from a 

GPS device surreptitiously affixed to a car without court authorization was 

suppressed.  Based upon that opinion, Appellant moved for a new trial. The district 

court granted Appellant’s motion, and ordered a new trial, and also ordered that 
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any evidence relating to the use of the tracking device in this case be suppressed..  

JA 266.  However, the court did not find that suppression of the drugs was 

necessary, reasoning  that  “a legal traffic stop based on probable cause that new, 

distinct crime occurred – the failure to use a turn signal – purged the taint of the 

illegal use of the GPS and the exception to the exclusionary rule should apply.”  JA 

276.     

Appellant’s second trial commenced on July 9, 2012. No reference to the use 

of the GPS device was made, and no evidence of any data from the device was  

presented to the jury.  Appellant was again convicted on July 10, 2012.  JA 12, 

522.  

Appellant Richard was sentenced on August 9, 2012.  JA 13, 522.  He  was 

classified as a career offender, based upon his criminal history, which included two 

prior felony drug convictions and a conviction for a crime of violence.  JA 503-

506.  The district court denied Appellant’s motion for a downward departure (JA 

519), and sentenced Appellant to 262 months’ imprisonment, a sentence within the 

range suggested by the sentencing guidelines. JA 520, 523, 538-539. 

 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS 

Argument I 
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 The district court properly denied Appellant’s motion to suppress the heroin 

found in the vehicle during the traffic stop, reasoning that the traffic stop was the 

result of a new and distinct crime: the driver’s failure to use her turn signal.  

Regardless of the fact that law enforcement officers were tracking Appellant’s 

vehicle with a GPS device, the  officers’ independent observation of a traffic 

violation gave them probable cause to stop the vehicle in which Appellant was 

riding. This traffic offense, combined with the driver’s consent to search and the 

positive alert by the drug dog, justified a vehicle search.  

Argument II 

 The district court correctly classified Appellant as a career offender because 

Appellant had three qualifying prior convictions, including a prior conviction for a 

crime of violence and two prior felony drug convictions.  

Argument III 

The district court properly exercised its discretion when it refused to vary 

from the advisory guidelines range, and instead sentenced Appellant within the 

range suggested by the sentencing guidelines. 

 

AGRUMENTS 

Argument I 
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The district court properly determined that a traffic offense, witnessed by law 
enforcement officers, constituted a new and distinct crime, and was a 
sufficient intervening event so as to provide independent grounds for the 
vehicle’s legal stop and subsequent seizure of drug evidence.     

A. Standard of Review 

 “In assessing a trial court’s ruling on a motion to suppress, we review factual 

findings for clear error and legal determinations de novo. When a motion to 

suppress has been denied by the court below, we review the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the Government.” United States v. Hampton, 628 F.3d 654, 658 

(4th Cir. 2010) (citing United States v. Green, 599 F.3d 360, 375 (4th Cir. 2010), 

cert. denied).  

B. Analysis 

 Prior to Appellant’s second trial,, the district court ruled that “[a]ll of the 

evidence relating to Appellant’s traveling to New Jersey and other evidence 

gathered using the GPS tracking device is hereby excluded, but the evidence 

uncovered subsequent to the legal traffic stop is not suppressed because the new 

crime purged the taint of the illegal GPS search.” JA 276-277.  Appellant now 

contends that the district court erred in determining that the traffic stop constituted 

a new crime that purged the taint of the illegal GPS search.  However, an 

examination of Fourth Amendment law and the exceptions that apply reveal that 

the district court committed no error. 
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 1. The district court did not err in denying Appellant’s motion to 
suppress based upon Appellant committing an  intervening illegal act 
that provided independent grounds for the stop of the vehicle and 
seizure of evidence. 

 
 The Fourth Amendment provides that “[t]he right of the people to be secure 

in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and 

seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable 

cause…” U.S. Const. Amend. IV. The Supreme Court has judicially created 

through its decisions an “exclusionary rule that, when applicable, forbids the use of 

improperly obtained evidence at trial.”  Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 

139 (2009).  In denying Appellant’s motion to suppress, the district court correctly 

held that the circumstances in this case fell under an  exception  to the exclusionary 

rule, and that the heroin uncovered subsequent to the traffic stop was admissible.  

 The exception found by the district court states that “when an individual 

commits a ‘new crime’ he can be prosecuted for that crime or crimes related to 

evidence legally discovered after the crime.” JA 275.  The Court based this finding 

on the decision in United States v. Bailey, 691 F.2d 1009, 1016-17 (11th Cir.1982), 

(“we conclude that notwithstanding a strong causal connection in fact between 

lawless police conduct and a defendant's response, if the defendant's response is 

itself a new, distinct crime, then the police constitutionally may arrest the 

defendant for that crime.”).   
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 The Fourth Circuit illustrated this rule in United States v. Sprinkle, 106 F.3d 

613, 619 (4th Cir. 1997), on which the District Court also relied. In Sprinkle, the 

police stopped the defendant for what they mistakenly believed was reasonable 

suspicion of criminal activity.  Id. at 616.  When the police told Sprinkle they were 

going to frisk him for weapons,  he fled and later pulled a handgun from his pants 

and fired at pursuing officers.  Id.  The district court in South Carolina ruled the 

firearm was “fruit of an unlawful stop”, and thus, that evidence was  inadmissible 

against the defendant.  Id.  In reversing, the Fourth Circuit held that the violation of 

a new crime “purged the taint of the prior illegal stop.”  Id. at 619. 

 Here, the  district court found that, although the new crime in Sprinkle was 

“more egregious than the new crime in this case…Katia Coney’s failure to 

properly use her turn signal” permitted law enforcement to make a traffic stop. JA 

276.  See e.g., United States v. Hassan El, 5 F.3d 726, 729 (4th Cir. 1993) (moving 

traffic violations provide a sufficient basis to initiate a traffic stop, regardless of the 

subjective reasons the officer may have had to make the stop). JA 276.  The court 

properly concluded that Ms. Coney’s traffic violation resulted in a legal traffic stop 

based on probable cause that a new crime occurred.  This new crime, the court 

continued, effectively “purged the taint of the illegal use of the GPS”, allowing that 

the “exception to the exclusionary rule should apply.” JA 276. 
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 The district court also stated that the “policy supporting the decision in 

Sprinkle applies” to the present case. JA 276.  The Court cited Sprinkle, which 

states that “[t]here is a strong policy reason for holding that a new and distinct 

crime, even if triggered by an illegal stop, is a sufficient intervening event to 

provide independent grounds for arrest…‘[a] contrary rule would virtually 

immunize a defendant from prosecution for all crimes he might commit that have a 

sufficient causal connection to the police misconduct.’” Sprinkle, 106 F.3d at 619 

(quoting United States v. Bailey, 691 F.2d 1009, 1018 (11th Cir. 1982)). JA 276.   

 The district court was correct in denying Appellant’s motion to suppress,  

holding “that the evidence uncovered subsequent to the new crime falls under the 

exception to the exclusionary rule.” JA 276.  Likewise, there was no error when, 

during Appellant’s re-trial, no evidence of the illegally- obtained GPS data was 

presented, but the heroin discovered pursuant to an independent crime was 

admitted into evidence..   

 2. Other rationale support the District Court’s decision 
 
 Although the district court properly found that an intervening illegal act 

purged any taint and rendered the drug evidence admissible against Appellant, 

there are other legal bases to support this same conclusion.  First, a warrant was not 

required because the search was supported by reasonable suspicion. Second, a 
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warrant was not required because the search was supported by probable cause.  

Finally, the “good faith” exception to the exclusionary rule applies, since 

Detectives acted with an objective, good faith belief that their conduct was lawful.  

 a. The search was supported by reasonable suspicion. 

 Not every Fourth Amendment intrusion requires a warrant or probable 

cause; to the contrary, the general test is one of reasonableness.  The Supreme 

Court “examine[s] the totality of the circumstances” to determine whether a search 

or seizure is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment.  Samson v. California, 547 

U.S. 843, 848 (2006) (internal marks and citation omitted).  Under that analysis, 

the reasonableness of a search or seizure is determined “by assessing, on the one 

hand, the degree to which it intrudes upon an individual’s privacy and, on the 

other, the degree to which it is needed for the promotion of legitimate 

governmental interests.”  Id. (internal quotation marks omitted); see Wyoming v. 

Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 300 (1999).    

Applying the Court’s balancing test to GPS tracking of vehicles on public 

roads, neither a warrant nor probable cause should be required.  See United States 

v. Marquez, 605 F.3d 604, 610 (8th Cir. 2010); United States v. Michael, 645 F.2d 

252, 257-59 (5th Cir. 1981) (en banc).  The intrusion occasioned by installation of 

a tracking device on a vehicle is minimal.  Installation is much less intrusive than 
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the typical stop and frisk.  Nothing from the vehicle is removed, and usually no 

enclosed area is entered.  With respect to the monitoring, the privacy interest, at 

least when the monitoring is for a limited time, is minimal.  A GPS tracking device 

conducts neither a visual nor an aural search of the item to which it is attached.  Cf. 

Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 741-42 (1979) (noting that pen register records 

only the numbers dialed from a phone and not the contents of any conversation).  

The device, by itself, does not reveal who is in the car as driver or passenger, what 

the occupants are doing, or what they do when they arrive at their destination.  

Unless and until combined with other information, GPS data  provides information 

only about the vehicle’s location.   This same information, that  of a vehicle’s 

location, could also be obtained (albeit less efficiently) by means of visual 

surveillance.  The Supreme Court “has recognized significant differences between 

motor vehicles and other property which permit warrantless searches of 

automobiles in circumstances in which warrantless searches would not be 

reasonable in other contexts.”  United States v. Chadwick, 433 U.S. 1, 12 (1977); 

see also South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 368 (1976); Cardwell v. Lewis, 

417 U.S. 583, 590 (1974).   

 On the other side of the ledger, the minimal protection of an individual’s 

privacy from obtaining a warrant before installing a tracking device on a vehicle 
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would come at great expense to law enforcement investigations.  Requiring a 

warrant and probable cause before officers may attach a GPS device to a vehicle in 

a public place would seriously impede the government’s ability to investigate drug 

trafficking, terrorism, and other crimes.  Law enforcement officers could not use 

GPS devices to gather information to establish probable cause, which is often the 

most productive use of such devices.   

Although the use of a GPS device may constitute a search, it is one that is 

reasonable, and does not require a warrant or probable cause.  Instead, the 

reasonable suspicion the investigators had in this case, based on the information 

provided by informants, justified the placement of the GPS and monitoring of the 

car’s movement.  This same informant information would have constituted 

probable cause as well. 

 b. The search was supported by probable cause. 

 In several instances, the Supreme Court has provided exceptions to the 

warrant requirement based on probable cause.  See New York v. Class, 475 U.S. 

106, 117-19 (1986) (officer’s momentary reaching into the interior of a vehicle to 

expose the VIN was reasonable where officer had “some probable cause focusing 

suspicion on the individual affected by the search”).  Additionally, the Court 

routinely recognizes an “automobile exception” to the warrant requirement, which 
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allows a warrantless, non-exigent search of a car if supported by probable cause.  

See, e.g., Maryland v. Dyson, 527 U.S. 465, 467 (1999).  In the instant case, the 

placement of the GPS device was supported by probable cause.  The Supreme 

Court has described “probable cause” to search as “a fair probability that 

contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.”  Illinois v. 

Gates, 642 U.S. 213, 238 (1983).  In this case, there was at least a “fair 

probability” that the placement of the GPS device on this vehicle would result in 

finding evidence of a crime.  Agents had information from two different sources 

that the car in question, to which the tracking device was attached, was moving 

large amounts of heroin, and further, that the individual associated with the car  

was using it to deliver heroin.  Certainly the movements of the vehicle would be 

evidence of that activity, and the consistency between the two accounts constituted 

a fair probability of the information’s accuracy.    

 The “automobile exception” to the warrant requirement is also helpful in this 

analysis.  Although the automobile exception has not been  applied to installation 

and use of a GPS tracking device, the same underlying legal principles  provide 

support for dispensing with a warrant requirement: the reduced expectations of 

privacy in a car, see Class, 475 U.S. at 112-13, and the car’s mobility, which 
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makes it less practical to obtain a warrant, see United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 

806 (1982).   

      Additionally, a  GPS only gathers information that the driver has knowingly 

exposed to the public. The only practical difference between placing a GPS tracker 

on a vehicle and having police physically watch and follow the car is the expense 

to the public taxpayer.   

 c. The GPS is admissible under the “good faith” exception to the 
exclusionary rule. 

 
 As stated above, the Supreme Court has judicially created an “exclusionary 

rule that, when applicable, forbids the use of improperly- obtained evidence at 

trial.”  Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 139 (2009). The exclusionary rule’s 

primary motivation is deterrence of illegal government conduct.  Stone v. Powell, 

428 U.S. 465 (1976).  That deterrence necessarily comes at the cost of letting 

guilty persons free.  “For exclusion to be appropriate, the deterrence benefits of 

suppression must outweigh the heavy costs.”  United States v. Davis, 131 S.Ct. 

2419, 2426 (2011) (citing Herring, 555 U.S. at 141; United States v. Leon, 468 

U.S. 897, 910 (1984)).  

      The Supreme Court has, however, recognized exceptions to this rule that would 

not require the suppression of the drug evidence in this case  even if this Court 

were to find that the Government’s use of a GPS required a warrant. The district 
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court denied Appellant’s motion to suppress based on the “intervening illegality” 

exception.  Appellant’s motion to suppress could also have been denied  based on 

the “good faith” exception. 

 “To trigger the exclusionary rule, police conduct must be sufficiently 

deliberate that exclusion can meaningfully deter it, and sufficiently culpable that 

such deterrence is worth the price paid by the justice system.”  Herring, 555 U.S. at 

144.  Suppression may, therefore, be warranted “to deter deliberate, reckless, or 

grossly negligent conduct, or in some circumstances, recurring or systemic 

negligence.”  Id.; Davis, 131 S. Ct. at 2427.  “But when the police act with an 

objectively reasonable good-faith belief that their conduct is lawful, or when their 

conduct involves only simple, isolated negligence, the deterrence rationale loses 

much of its force and exclusion cannot pay its way.”  Davis, 131 S. Ct. at 2427-28 

(internal citations and quotation marks omitted).  “[W]hen the police conduct a 

search in objectively reasonable reliance on binding judicial precedent” that was 

subsequently reversed, there is no police wrongdoing to deter and thus no 

justification for excluding evidence.  Id. at 2428-29. 

 Even if the use of GPS evidence was the result of an illegal search, the 

police conduct should be excused under the good faith exception. Although this 

circuit does not appear to have any binding precedent to govern law enforcement 
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officers’ actions in the warrantless installation and monitoring of a GPS device, 

other courts who have considered the question had concluded that, in light of the 

Supreme Court’s decision in United States v. Knotts, 460 U.S. 276(1983), police 

did not need to obtain a warrant to install a tracking device on the exterior of a 

vehicle or to use that device to monitor a vehicle’s movements on public roads, 

See, e.g., United States v. Walker, 771 F.Supp. 2d 803, 808-813 (W.D. Mich. 

2011); United States v. Sparks, 750 F. Supp. 2d 384, 390-396 (D. Mass. 2010); 

United States v. Jesus-Nunez, No.1:10-CR-00017-01, 2010 WL 2991229, at *4-*5 

(M.D. Pa. July 27, 2010) (unpublished); United States v. Burton, 698 F. Supp. 2d 

1303, 1305-1308 (N.D. Fla. 2010); United States v. Coombs, No. CR08-1253-

FRZ-CRPS, 2009 WL 3823730, at *4-*5 (D. Ariz. Nov. 12, 2009) (unpublished); 

United States v. Williams, 650 F. Supp. 2d 633, 668 (W.D. Ky. 2009); United 

States v.Moran, 349 F. Supp. 2d 425, 467-468 (N.D.N.Y. 2005).  

 In this case, law enforcement officers relied on this precedent to support 

their actions.  The police believed their actions were entirely reasonable and legal,  

and that they were relying on established judicial precedent.  Therefore, the police 

conduct, even if found illegal, does not warrant exclusion because that would not 

further the goals of the exclusionary rule.  

Argument II 
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The District Court properly classified Appellant as a career offender because 
Appellant’s criminal history included one prior conviction for a crime of 
violence, and two prior convictions for controlled substance offenses.   

A. Standard of Review 

 “We review de novo a question of whether a prior state conviction qualifies 

as a prior felony conviction under the career offender provision.” United States v. 

Jones, 667 F.3d 477, 482 (4th Cir. 2012). 

B. Analysis 

 Appellant objects to his classification as a career offender because, as he 

argues, the conviction outlined in paragraph 26 of the Presentence Report (JA 533) 

occurred more than fifteen years prior to the instant offense and should not count 

as a crime of violence.  Appellant previously made this argument in his motion for 

a non-guidelines sentence (JA 485), but such argument was not accepted by the 

district court.   

 Pursuant to the instruction of U.S.S.G. § 4B1.1(a), the district court correctly  

classified Appellant as a career offender, for the following reasons: 1) Appellant 

was thirty-five years old at the time he committed the instant offense of conviction; 

2)  the instant offense of conviction is a felony that is  a crime of violence or a 

controlled substance offense; and 3)  Appellant had two prior felony convictions of 

either a crime of violence or a controlled substance offense. 

Appeal: 12-4627      Doc: 38            Filed: 12/03/2012      Pg: 26 of 36



 

20 
 

     Contrary to Appellant’s argument, the conviction listed in Paragraph 26 of the 

Presentence Report (PSR)(JA 533) counts as a predicate felony. Appellant’s instant 

offense occurred on June 1, 2009, making the fifteen-year operative “window” for 

prior convictions June 1, 1994.  On October 7, 1992, Appellant was arrested for 

attempted murder, and  sentenced to twelve years’ imprisonment on April 26, 

1993.  Appellant was paroled on December 24, 1997, and his supervision expired 

on July 25, 2000.  JA 533.   Sentencing guideline § 4B1.2(c) provides that  a “prior 

felony conviction” is measured by the date the conviction is established.  

Application Note 3 to U.S.S.G. § 4B1.2 states that guideline § 4A1.2 applies to the 

counting of convictions under U.S.S.G. § 4B1.1. This guideline provides in 

pertinent part: 

…any prior sentence of imprisonment exceeding one year and one month 
that was imposed within fifteen years of the defendant’s commencement of 
the instant offense is counted.  Also count any prior sentence of 
imprisonment exceeding one year and one month, whenever imposed, that 
resulted in the defendant being incarcerated during any part of such fifteen-
year period.  
 
U.S.S.G. § 4A1.2(e)(1),  
 

 Thus, because Appellant was incarcerated within fifteen years of his offense 

of conviction, his prior conviction is counted as a  predicate offense pursuant to  

U.S.S.G. § 4A1.2(e). The district court correctly followed the guidelines’ 

instruction. JA 503-504.  
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Further, Appellant had other prior convictions that qualified under U.S.S.G. 

§ 4A1.2(a)(2) as he had two controlled substance  convictions from February 24, 

2001 and June 15, 2001.  JA 534, 535.  Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 4A1.2(a)(2), since 

both resulted in sentences on July 12, 2002, they were properly considered 

predicate convictions for career offender status. Paragraph 28 of the PSR (JA 534) 

shows Appellant was convicted of possession of a controlled substance with intent 

to distribute on or within 1000 feet of school property, in violation of New Jersey 

Code 2C:35-7 which classified it as a crime in the third degree. N.J.S.A. 2C:35-

7(a).  Paragraph 29 of the PSR shows Appellant was convicted of possession with 

intent to distribute a dangerous substance, in violation of New Jersey Code 2C:35-

5 which classified it as a crime in the third degree. N.J.S.A. 2C:35-5(b)(11).  

According to  New Jersey criminal sentencing statutes, a person convicted of a 

crime of the third degree may be sentenced to imprisonment for between  three and 

five years. N.J.S.A. 2C:43-6.   

Each of these prior drug convictions were for offenses that prohibited 

possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute, and were punishable 

by imprisonment for more than one year. As such, they met the definition of 

“controlled substance offense”, as defined in U.S.S.G. § 4B1.2.  
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Additionally, these  offenses count as separate sentences under U.S.S.G. § 

4A1.2(a)(2),  since by definition “[p]rior sentences always are counted separately if 

the sentences were imposed for offenses that were separated by an intervening 

arrest (i.e., the defendant is arrested for the first offense prior to committing the 

second offense).” U.S.S.G. § 4A1.2(a)(2).  Appellant committed the offense in 

paragraph 28 on February 24, 2001, and  was arrested that same day. JA 534.  He 

committed the offense listed in paragraph 29 on June 15, 2001, and was arrested 

that day. JA 535.  Therefore, these convictions are counted separately, and the 

district court correctly classified Appellant as a career offender.  

Finally, the prior controlled substance offenses were properly used to 

enhance Appellant’s sentence under 21 U.S.C. §§ 841 and 851.  The government 

filed the proper notice by information, as required by 21 U.S.C 851(a), and 

Appellant failed to file any  response to the information as required by 21 U.S.C. § 

851(c)(1). (JA 8, 527)   

 

Argument III 

The district court properly exercised its discretion when it  denied Appellant’s 
motion for a departure, and properly sentenced Appellant within the advisory 
guidelines range.  
 
A. Standard of Review 
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 A discretionary refusal to depart by a district court is not reviewable on 

appeal.  A refusal to depart based upon a perceived lack of legal authority is 

reviewed de novo.   United States v. Hall, 977 F.2d 861, 863 (4th Cir., 1992).   

B. Analysis  

“Refusals to depart downward from the guideline range are not appealable.”  

United States v. Bayerle, 898 F.2d 28, 30 (4th Cir 1990), citing United States v. 

Tucker, 892 F.2d 8 (1st Cir.1989); United States v. Colon, 884 F.2d 1550 (2d 

Cir.1989); United States v. Denardi, 892 F.2d 269 (3d Cir.1989); United States v. 

Buenrostro, 868 F.2d 135 (5th Cir.1989); United States v. Draper, 888 F.2d 1100 

(6th Cir.1989); United States v. Franz, 886 F.2d 973 (7th Cir.1989); United States 

v. Fossett, 881 F.2d 976 (11th Cir.1989).   

Section 3742 of Title 18, United States Code, sets forth the specific 

circumstances under which a defendant may appeal a sentence.  Appellant does not 

allege that any of these circumstances exist in this case.  Appellant does not claim 

that the district court refused to depart upon a perceived lack of legal authority.  

Rather, Appellant argues that the district court erred in refusing to use its discretion 

and denying his motion for a reduced sentence.       

Appellant claimed he should be granted a variance from the guidelines 

range, contending his designation as a career offender overstated the seriousness of 
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his actual criminal history. The district court considered Appellant’s basis for a 

departure, and stated,  “I’m looking at the Guidelines that tell me what I should do.  

And I haven’t heard anything from you, though you’ve tried, that would take you 

outside those Guidelines.”  JA 519.  The district court knew it had discretion to 

depart, but found no reason to do so.  When the court refuses to depart based on its 

discretionary authority, as opposed to a perceived lack of legal authority to do so, 

that decision is not appealable.  
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CONCLUSION 
 

 Appellant set out three challenges to the district court’s rulings.  However, 

none of them are supported by the record or the law.   The district court properly 

ruled on each of Appellant’s claims of error, and this case should be affirmed.  

 
Respectfully submitted: 

 
      WILLIAM N. NETTLES 
      UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
      DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
 
 
     By:   S/ Nathan S. Williams    
      Nathan S. Williams, Fed. ID # 10400 
      Assistant United States Attorney 
      1551 Meeting Street, Suite 200 
      Charleston, SC 29402 
      (843) 727-4381 
 
 
 
 
December 3, 2012 
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STATEMENT WITH RESPECT TO ORAL ARGUMENT 

 The United States respectfully suggests that oral argument is not necessary 

in this case.  The legal issues are not novel, and oral argument likely would not aid 

the Court in reaching its decision. 
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